

By Robert Long 1 February 2024

Summer-born children: starting school



- 3 Education Committee inquiry (2015)
- 4 Government's proposed changes now dropped
- 5 Research and comment

Disclaimer

The Commons Library does not intend the information in our research publications and briefings to address the specific circumstances of any particular individual. We have published it to support the work of MPs. You should not rely upon it as legal or professional advice, or as a substitute for it. We do not accept any liability whatsoever for any errors, omissions or misstatements contained herein. You should consult a suitably qualified professional if you require specific advice or information. Read our briefing <u>'Legal help: where to go and how to pay</u>' for further information about sources of legal advice and help. This information is provided subject to the conditions of the Open Parliament Licence.

Feedback

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly available briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated to reflect subsequent changes.

If you have any comments on our briefings please email papers@parliament.uk. Please note that authors are not always able to engage in discussions with members of the public who express opinions about the content of our research, although we will carefully consider and correct any factual errors.

You can read our feedback and complaints policy and our editorial policy at <u>commonslibrary.parliament.uk.</u> If you have general questions about the work of the House of Commons email <u>hcenquiries@parliament.uk</u>.

Contents

| Summary | | |
|---------|---|----|
| 1 | Position in England | 7 |
| 1.1 | Who counts as a summer-born child? | 7 |
| | Compulsory school age | 7 |
| 1.2 | School admissions rules: admission to Reception or Year 1 | 7 |
| | School admissions authorities | 9 |
| | Local Government Ombudsman guidance | 9 |
| 1.3 | Special Educational Needs or disabilities (SEND) | 10 |
| 1.4 | Other key issues | 10 |
| | Transition to junior, middle or secondary school | 10 |
| | Handling parental requests for admissions out of year | 11 |
| | Moving children to their normal age group | 11 |
| | Impact on school leaving age | 12 |
| 1.5 | DfE research surveys (2023) | 12 |
| 2 | Position in Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland | 14 |
| 2.1 | Scotland | 14 |
| 2.2 | Wales | 14 |
| 2.3 | Northern Ireland | 15 |
| 3 | Education Committee inquiry (2015) | 16 |
| 3.1 | Committee inquiry and letter to Minister | 16 |
| 3.2 | Ministerial response and Government action | 17 |
| 4 | Government's proposed changes – now dropped | 18 |
| 4.1 | Developments in 2015 | 18 |
| 4.2 | Developments in 2016 | 19 |
| 4.3 | Conservative Manifesto 2017: school admissions review | 20 |
| 4.4 | Parliamentary Question responses (2018) | 20 |

| 4.5 | June 2020 statement | 21 |
|-----|---|----|
| 4.6 | September 2020: revised guidance | 22 |
| 4.7 | July 2022: Changes dropped | 22 |
| 5 | Research and comment | 24 |
| | Institute for Fiscal Studies research | 24 |
| | Institute of Education study | 24 |
| | Education Datalab research | 25 |
| | Submissions to Education Committee | 25 |
| | BBC investigation: 'postcode lottery' for parents | 25 |
| | TES article | 25 |
| | LSE article on deferred or delayed entry | 26 |

Summary

Current position

There have been longstanding concerns that children born towards the end of the school year – in England, summer-born children – suffer adverse educational impacts by virtue of starting school at a younger age than their peers.

To accommodate these concerns, a degree of flexibility is provided in England whereby a parent may request that a summer-born child is admitted to school outside of their normal age group. (This is in addition to other reasons a child might be educated outside their normal age group, such as following a period of ill health.)

A school's admissions authority is responsible for making the decision on which year group a child should be admitted to. There is no statutory barrier to children being admitted outside their normal age group, but parents do not have the right to insist that their child is admitted to a particular age group.

Research published by the Department for Education in 2023 found that <u>over</u> <u>9 in 10 requests for delayed school entry are agreed</u>, with more than a quarter of local authorities adopting a policy of accepting all requests.

Concerns and proposals for change

Concerns have been raised about the manner in which this process operates, in particular that many parents whose request is accepted find that their child's deferred entry into school may not be into the reception class but rather into year 1, meaning the child misses reception year. There can also be consequences later in education when a child advances to secondary school or moves to a new area.

In September 2015, the then Schools Minister told the House that the Government would consult on changes to the School Admissions Code to amend the code to strengthen the rights of parents to choose when their child enters reception class, and to ensure children remain in the same school year throughout their education if they prefer.

However, these proposals did not lead to legislative change and in July 2022 the Government announced that it had <u>ended its plans to legislate</u>. The announcement stated that the Government believed good progress had been

made within the existing legislation, with a large majority of applications for delayed entry being approved, and that the system was now working well.

Devolution

Schools policy is devolved. This paper focuses on England, but information is provided on the relevant position in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. In Scotland, similar deferral processes are in place, although the differing operation of the school year means those provisions apply to children born during the winter. 1 Position in England

1.1 Who counts as a summer-born child?

In England, the term 'summer born' is used to refer to children born from 1 April to 31 August. If the parents of summer-born children decide to send them to school rather than to home educate, these children are not required to start school until a full school year after the point at which they could first have been admitted. Children may attend school from four years old but are not required to until they reach compulsory school age.

Compulsory school age

Compulsory school age is set out in section 8 of the <u>Education Act 1996</u> and <u>The Education (Start of Compulsory School Age) Order 1998</u>. A child reaches compulsory school age on the prescribed day following his or her fifth birthday (or on his or her fifth birthday if it falls on a prescribed day). The prescribed days are 31 December, 31 March and 31 August.

There is flexibility for parents who do not feel their child is ready to start school before compulsory school age. They may defer the date their child is admitted to school until later in the school year following their fourth birthday, providing they do not defer beyond the point at which they reach compulsory school age, or beyond the start of the final term of that school year. Alternatively, their child may attend school part-time until they reach compulsory school age.¹

1.2

School admissions rules: admission to Reception or Year 1

The Department for Education has published <u>Summer born children starting</u> <u>school: advice for parents</u> and, for local authorities and other school admissions authorities, <u>Guidance on handling admission requests for summer</u> <u>born children</u>.

The guidance for admissions authorities provides an overview of the rules:

¹ Department for Education, <u>Summer born children starting school: advice for parents</u>, 27 April 2023

- Paragraph 2.17 of the <u>School Admissions Code</u> requires admission authorities to provide for the admission of all children in the September following their fourth birthday. Most parents are happy for their child to start school at this point.
- Children are not required to attend school until they reach <u>compulsory</u> <u>school age</u>. Children born from 1 April to 31 August – known as summer born children – do not need to start school until the September after their fifth birthday, a year after they could first have started school.
- A parent may request their summer born child is admitted out of their normal age group at this point to reception rather than year 1.
- If a child is admitted to primary school out of their normal age group, the parent may make further requests, for example, when they transfer from primary to secondary school.
- The admission authority of each school must make a decision based on the circumstances of the case and in the child's best interests. It should be rare for an authority to refuse a parent's request.
- An admission authority may not decide that a child should start school before compulsory school age that is the parent's decision.
- The government believes it is rarely in a child's best interests to miss a year of their education, for example, by beginning primary school in year 1 rather than reception, or secondary school in year 8 rather than year 7.²

The statutory <u>School Admissions Code</u> provides more detailed information. It requires admissions authorities in England to consider requests from parents to allow their children to enter school a year later than would be usual, and join the reception class when they do so. Summer-born children are mentioned specifically in this context. It is up to admissions authorities to decide whether admission outside the usual year group should be allowed in respect of an individual child. There is no rule that says admissions authorities cannot admit children outside of their usual year group, but summer-born children who start in the September following their fifth birthday may be offered a place in a year 1 class, effectively 'skipping' reception.

The relevant paragraphs from the <u>Code</u> state (emphasis in original):

2.18 Parents may seek a place for their child outside of their normal age group, for example, if the child is gifted and talented or has experienced problems such as ill health. In addition, the parents of a summer born child³ may choose not to send that child to school until the September following their fifth

² Department for Education, <u>Guidance on handling admission requests for summer born children</u>, 27 April 2023

³ The Code states in a footnote that "the term summer born children relates to all children born from 1 April to 31 August. These children reach compulsory school age on 31 August following their fifth birthday (or on their fifth birthday if it falls on 31 August). It is likely that most requests for summer born children to be admitted out of their normal age group will come from parents of children born in the later summer months or those born prematurely."

birthday and may request that they are admitted out of their normal age group – to reception rather than year 1. Admission authorities **must** make clear in their admission arrangements the process for requesting admission out of the normal age group.

2.19 Admission authorities **must** make decisions on the basis of the circumstances of each case and in the best interests of the child concerned. This will include taking account of the parent's views; information about the child's academic, social, and emotional development; where relevant, their medical history and the views of a medical professional; whether they have previously been educated out of their normal age group; and whether they may naturally have fallen into a lower age group if it were not for being born prematurely. They **must** also take into account the views of the head teacher of the school concerned. When informing a parent of their decision on the year group the child should be admitted to, the admission authority **must** set out clearly the reasons for their decision.

2.20 Where an admission authority agrees to a parent's request for their child to be admitted out of their normal age group and, as a consequence of that decision, the child will be admitted to a relevant age group (i.e. the age group to which pupils are normally admitted to the school) the local authority and admission authority **must** process the application as part of the main admissions round, unless the parental request is made too late for this to be possible, and on the basis of their determined admission arrangements only, including the application of oversubscription criteria where applicable. They **must not** give the application lower priority on the basis that the child is being admitted out of their normal age group. Parents have a statutory right to appeal against the refusal of a place at a school for which they have applied. This right does not apply if they are offered a place at the school, but it is not in their preferred age group.⁴

School admissions authorities

Depending on the type of school involved in a particular case, the admissions authority responsible for making these decisions will differ. The respective authorities are:

- Academies (including Free Schools): the Academy Trust
- Community Schools and Voluntary Controlled Schools: the local authority
- Foundation Schools and Voluntary Aided Schools: the governing body⁵

Local Government Ombudsman guidance

The LGO published <u>Guidance for councils on admitting summer born children</u> to school in December 2018.

The guidance states that parents should be made aware of whether their child will be admitted to reception class or year 1 before making their decision

⁴ Department for Education, <u>Schools Admissions Code</u>, September 2021, p25-26

⁵ As above, p6

on whether to send their child to school earlier, before reaching compulsory school age, or wait until reaching compulsory school age.

The guidance stated that:

Parents or guardians should be able to make this decision knowing which school year (reception or year one) the admission authority considers it would be in the child's best interest to start, should they decide not to send their child to school until the September after their fifth birthday. This means that the admissions authority is obliged to inform them of this when they apply for their four year old child to be admitted out of their normal age group, even if they are not intending to have their child actually admitted until they reach [compulsory school age].

The decision on whether to admit a child to reception class or year 1 remains with the admissions authority, but, the LGO stated, while it recognised that "this is a difficult decision, more than one year in advance, but that is the test required by the [School Admissions] Code and [DfE] guidance."⁶

Special Educational Needs or disabilities (SEND)

The <u>advice for admissions authorities</u> on summer-born children sets out that "There do not need to be exceptional circumstances, and a child does not need to have a medical need or SEND for it to be in their best interests to be admitted out of their normal age group." It also recommends that parents who are worried about a school meeting their child's need to meet the school's special educational needs co-ordinator.⁷

1.4 Other key issues

1.3

The Government's <u>advice</u> provides the position on a number of other key issues relevant to children educated outside of their normal year group. A brief overview of some of the most significant is provided in this section.

Transition to junior, middle or secondary school

When a child who has been educated outside of their normal year group moves to another school, their parent may need to again request for them to be educated outside of their year group:

⁶ Local Government Ombudsman, <u>Guidance for councils on admitting summer born children to</u> <u>school</u>, December 2018

⁷ Department for Education, <u>Guidance on handling admission requests for summer born children</u>, 27 April 2023

If a child is admitted to primary school out of their normal age group, the parent may make further requests, for example, when they transfer from primary to secondary school.⁸

Handling parental requests for admissions out of year

School admissions authorities must have their own procedures in place for deciding whether a child should be admitted outside of their normal age group. The guidance recommends that the process put in place:

For primary school admissions, we recommend that the process:

- expects parents to make an application for a school place in their child's normal age group at the usual time
- enables parents to submit a request for admission outside the normal age group at the same time
- ensures parents receive the response to their request before primary national offer day

Secondary schools might adopt a similar process. For example, they might:

- expect parents to secure agreement from the admission authority of their preferred schools for their child to continue to be educated out of their normal age group when their child begins year 5 (before the normal admissions round closes on 31 October)
- ensure parents receive the response to their request before the normal secondary admissions round closes

Admission authorities must still consider requests that are made outside the timescales set out in the process. $^{\rm 9}$

Moving children to their normal age group

The advice makes clear that, after a child has been admitted, the decision on how best to educate them, including potentially moving them to their normal age group, is the responsibility of the head teacher.

> Headteachers are responsible for deciding how best to educate the children in their school. On occasion, this may include deciding any child should be moved to a different age group. Such decisions should be based on sound educational reasons and made in consultation with the parents.

There is no expectation that children who were admitted out of their normal age group should be moved to their normal age group. As with other children,

⁸ Department for Education, <u>Guidance on handling admission requests for summer born children</u>, 27 April 2023

⁹ As above

they should remain in the age group to which they were admitted unless there are sound educational reasons to do otherwise.¹⁰

Impact on school leaving age

The advice provides the following information on the position regarding children who have been educated outside their normal year group when they reach the school leaving age:

A child reaches school leaving age on the last Friday of June in the school year they turn 16. A child educated in the age group below their normal age group, will be in year 10 when they reach school leaving age.

They are required to continue in education or training until the end of the school year in which they turn 18, but need not attend school to fulfil this requirement. They cannot be obliged to attend school during year 11 (in the same way that a child educated in their normal age group could not be required to attend school during year 12 or 13) but the school will continue to receive funding for them if they do.¹¹

1.5 DfE research surveys (2023)

In November 2023, the Department for Education published the results of two surveys, one to local authorities and another to parents and carers, on <u>delayed admissions for summer-born children</u>.

- An ongoing rise in requests being automatically approved by local authorities, with more than a quarter having a policy of agreeing all requests
- Take-up of delayed entry for summer-born pupils (at 1.5% in 2022/23) has slowed and is levelling off
- Parents/carers who delay their child's admission to reception are significantly more likely to have higher than national average incomes
- Numbers of requests increased the closer the child's date of birth was to the 31 August cut-off-date
- Parental levels of awareness about the option to defer, and experiences of the associated process, varied widely between areas

¹⁰ Department for Education, <u>Guidance on handling admission requests for summer born children</u>, 27 April 2023

¹¹ As above

• Many parents raised concerns about their child remaining in their adopted year group, especially when transitioning to secondary school.¹²

¹² Department for Education, <u>Delayed school admissions for summer-born pupils (2023)</u>, November 2023, p4-6

Position in Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland

2.1 Scotland

2

The school system in Scotland operates with a different timeframe to that in England, so the children affected by these concerns are not 'summer-born'. Nonetheless, similar <u>provisions on deferring school entry</u> are in place for the children who would be at the younger end of their school year group:

In Scotland, the school year begins in mid-August. Any single school year group consists of children born between the beginning of March in one year and the end of February the following year. Children born between March and August start school in the August of, or following, their fifth birthday. Those born between September and February start school in the August prior to their fifth birthday. As such, children in Scotland usually start school between the ages of 4.5 and 5.5 years old.

However, parents of children born between September and December can request to defer their child's entry to the following August. These deferrals are not automatic and are subject to approval by the local education authority. Parents of children born in January and February may also choose to defer their child's entry; these requests are automatically approved. Children with birthdays in January and February and whose entry to school is deferred are eligible for a further year of funded pre-school education whereas those with September to December birthdays who are deferred are not. Children whose entry is deferred will tend to be aged between 5.5 and 6 years old at the time they start school.¹³

2.2 Wales

The Welsh Government's <u>School Admissions Code</u> makes allowances for children to be admitted to school outside of their normal age group. It notes that requests for admission outside the normal year group may be considered in particular cases, although it refers to exceptional ability or ill health rather than the child concerned being born at the end of the school year:

> 3.30 Although most children will be admitted to a school with their own chronological age group, from time to time parents seek places outside their normal age group for gifted and talented children, or those who have experienced problems or missed part of a year, often due to ill health. While it

¹³ The Scottish Government, <u>Chapter 2: Entry to school</u>, May 2012

would not normally be appropriate for a child to be placed in a year group that is not concurrent with their chronological age, admission authorities should consider these requests carefully and make decisions on the basis of the circumstances of each case and in consultation with the parents and the school, and specifically in relation to what is most beneficial to the child. Due regard should also be given to the Educational Psychologist's report where available, and clear reasons ascertainable for such a decision to be made.

3.31 If it is decided that there are grounds to consider an 'out of year' application, parents refused an application for a place at a school have a statutory right of appeal. However, there is no right of appeal if a place has been offered but not in the desired year group.¹⁴

The Government's <u>FAQs page on issues with school admissions</u> includes the following overview:

By law children have to be in school full-time in the term after they are five.

Before that time you can ask the admission authority if your child can go to school part-time or put off starting school until later in the school year. This is known as deferred entry. Your child will have to go to school before the end of the summer term or they will lose their place in the class and you will have to reapply for a place.

If you do not take up the place offered in the same school year, your child would not normally join the next Reception class but would join the class in which they were originally offered a place.¹⁵

2.3 Northern Ireland

Children in Northern Ireland begin compulsory education earlier than children in the rest of the UK, at four years old.

The <u>School Age (Northern Ireland) Act 2022</u> allows the parents/ guardians of Young for Year children to defer the start of pre-school and, in turn, primary school for their child for one year.

Deferral of primary school starting age is available on parental request to any child born between 1 April and 1 July and to any child due to be born after 1 April but born before this date. Deferral does not require an educational assessment.¹⁶

¹⁴ Welsh Government, <u>School Admissions Code</u>, July 2013, p24

¹⁵ Welsh Government, <u>Frequently Asked Questions on School Admissions and School Admission</u> <u>Appeals</u>, May 2021

¹⁶ Department of Education, <u>School Starting Age</u>

3 Education Committee inquiry (2015)

3.1

Committee inquiry and letter to Minister

In January 2015, the Commons Education Select Committee <u>launched</u> an 'evidence check' inquiry on school starting age, including provisions for those born in summer months or born prematurely.¹⁷ At the conclusion of its inquiry, the Committee wrote to the Minister, stating that:

- It was clear from the evidence we received, including the Department's own analysis, that there is a measurable effect of the month of a child's birth on academic outcomes. We also heard evidence about nonacademic effects of being summer-born, including disproportionately high SEN diagnosis, bullying and placement in low ability groups. There is widespread agreement that a problem exists, on average, for summer born and premature children.
- We heard during the session that parents are having increasing difficulty in securing entry for summer born or premature children into reception at compulsory school age, rather than into year 1, and that the situation has worsened following the Government's new guidance.
- We heard that there is variation in the extent to which admissions authorities are following the Government's guidance, and that...the issue may re-emerge when applying for secondary schools or moving to a different area.
- We noted that parents do not have the right to appeal against admission into year 1 rather than reception, and that the final decision on this rests with the admissions authority rather than the parents.¹⁸

The Committee made several suggestions to the Department on the strength of its findings, including that the Government should:

- Consider what further steps could be taken to communicate Government guidance on summer born admissions to admissions authorities;
- Monitor the effectiveness of the Government's guidance in altering admission authorities' behaviour;
- Consider whether to produce guidance for parents on how to request admission for a premature or summer-born child into reception class, rather than year 1, at compulsory school age;

¹⁷ Education Committee, <u>Evidence check: starting school – call for evidence</u>, 29 January 2015

¹⁸ Education Committee, <u>Letter to Nick Gibb</u>, 18 March 2015

- Consider the merits of using a child's due date rather than birthdate in the definition or interpretation of the compulsory school age, and more generally in admissions policies;
- Assess how a right to appeal a decision regarding a child's year of entry to school might be introduced.¹⁹

3.2 Ministerial response and Government action

In July 2015, Nick Gibb <u>responded</u> in a letter sent to the new Education Committee formed following the General Election. The Minister expressed concern at the number of cases where children are admitted to year 1 against their parents' wishes, and that Government action had not reduced the number of contentious cases. He stated that he had asked Departmental officials to look into how this issue might be resolved.²⁰

The Minister's letter included further evidence from the Department for Education on summer-born children.²¹

¹⁹ As above

²⁰ Department for Education, <u>Nick Gibb letter to Neil Carmichael MP</u>, <u>Chair of the Education</u> <u>Committee</u>, 1 July 2015

²¹ As above

4 Government's proposed changes – now dropped

Developments in 2015

4.1

An <u>adjournment debate</u> on the guidelines in place for the admission of summer-born children to school took place on 7 September 2015. Stephen Hammond (Con), who secured the debate, praised the existing guidelines but raised concerns with how they were being applied in practice, highlighting the lack of a right of appeal to an application to admitted outside of a child's normal age cohort, admission to year 1 in some cases, concerns about transition to secondary, and that some authorities took no notice of babies born ahead of their due date.²²

The then Schools Minister, Nick Gibb, stated in <u>closing the debate</u> that the Government would, subject to public consultation, amend the School Admissions Code to strengthen the rights of parents to choose when their child enters reception class, and to ensure children remain in the same school year throughout their education if they prefer:

> We have therefore decided it is necessary to amend the admissions code further to ensure that summer-born children can be admitted to reception at the age of five, if this is what their parents wish, and to ensure that those children are able to remain with that cohort as they progress through school. We have already begun the work necessary to implement the change. We will conduct a full public consultation in due course and, subject to parliamentary approval, we will introduce these further changes to ensure that no child is forced to start school before they are ready.

Admission authorities may have been reluctant to agree to parental requests because they felt it would open the floodgates—that large numbers of parents of summer-born children would want them to be admitted outside their normal age group—and that, as a consequence, the admission system would become impossible to manage. I do not believe this to be true. The reception year of school is the final part of the early years foundation stage, and we know that most parents are happy for their child to go to school at this point, confident that they are ready for the challenge. We believe that only a small proportion of parents of summer-born children wish them to be admitted to reception at the age of five—for example, children born in the late summer months or born prematurely. On that point—the first of the three my hon. Friend made—I will further consider whether we can make changes in relation to the due date versus the birth date of prematurely born children.²³

²² HC Deb 7 Sep 2015 c196

²³ HC Deb 7 Sep 2015 c198-200

The Minister wrote an <u>open letter</u> to parents, local authorities, schools and admission authorities, confirming these proposals, on 8 September 2015.²⁴

In October 2015, the Minister indicated in <u>response</u> to a Parliamentary Question that the Department hoped to have a draft Admissions Code ready for consultation in the new year.²⁵

4.2 Developments in 2016

In January 2016, Stephen Hammond raised the consultation during Education Questions in the House of Commons. The Minister <u>responded</u> that:

Mr Gibb: [...] Subject to parliamentary approval, we have decided to amend the school admissions code to support summer-born children to enter school in the reception year if their parents decide to defer their start at school. We are now considering other, consequential changes to the code, including whether the due date rather than the birth date of premature children should be used for determining when they will begin school, and we will conduct a full public consultation in due course.

[...] it is important that we consider the other changes we need to make to the school admissions code at the same time as making changes to the rules regarding summer-born children. The work is ongoing, and we will begin the consultation in due course.²⁶

In September 2016, the recently appointed Education Secretary, Justine Greening, <u>told the Education Committee</u> that the Government would be taking steps on this issue "shortly" and that:

The reality is that the challenges are faced by probably parents of mid to late July and August children. What I want to do is make sure that as we take this forward we are clear about who we particularly want to give more options to.²⁷

An <u>adjournment debate</u> on summer-born children was held on 10 October 2016, led by Stephen Hammond. The Minister raised concerns about potential misuse of changes that the Government wanted to guard against, and also stated that the Government believed significant cost could be involved:

> We will support summer children in the best way we can, but it is important that we also consider the wider impact of any policy changes. It would clearly not be right for every summer-born child to delay starting school until they are five, as many will be ready to take on the challenges of formal schooling earlier. In developing this policy, we want to make sure that parents have the information that they need to make informed decisions about their child's education. We also need to ensure that parents do not use the flexibilities as a

²⁴ Department for Education, <u>Summer-born children to get the right to start school later</u>, 8 September 2015

²⁵ PQ 12741, 29 October 2015

²⁶ HC Deb 25 Jan 2016 c14

²⁷ Education Committee, <u>Oral evidence: Role and Responsibilities of the Secretary of State for</u> <u>Education</u>, HC 196, 14 September 2016, Q295

mechanism by which to gain an unfair advantage in the admissions system by applying for a place in the reception class of their preferred school for when their child is four, and again for when their child is five. Furthermore, while we want to provide admissions flexibility where it is most needed, we also want to ensure that we do not create unintended consequences for the early years sector.

We have been considering all these issues carefully as we develop the policy. In particular, we have carried out work on the likely cost of full implementation. First indications show that the costs are high. These are, however, based on a limited amount of information on why parents might choose to defer their summer-born child's admission to school. This is why we are starting to collect more information and data before making a decision on how to roll out any changes. [...]

The costs may well be neutral to a school, but may not necessarily be neutral to the system as a whole, if children stay in early years provision for longer than they would otherwise have done and therefore spend an extra year in the education system.²⁸

4.3 Conservative Manifesto 2017: school admissions review

The <u>Conservative Manifesto</u> for the 2017 General Election proposed to conduct a review of school admissions policy.²⁹

No further steps on a potential review were taken after that election. In response to a <u>Parliamentary Question</u> in November 2017, the Schools Minister stated that the Government "routinely keep the admissions system under review."³⁰

4.4

Parliamentary Question responses (2018)

In response to a Parliamentary Question in March 2018, the Schools Minister restated that the Government was considering amendments to the School Admissions Code for summer-born children:

Nick Gibb: The Department is giving careful consideration to how these changes may be made in a way that avoids unintended consequences elsewhere in the system. Any changes to the Admissions Code will require a statutory process, including consultation and parliamentary scrutiny. The

²⁸ <u>HC Deb 10 Oct 2016 c136-137</u>

²⁹ <u>Conservative Manifesto 2017, p50</u>

³⁰ PQ 113399, 24 November 2017

Department will consider the appropriate time for consulting on these changes in the context of competing pressures on the parliamentary timetable.³¹

A separate response from the Minister again commented on the potentially significant costs of granting summer-born and premature children the right to start reception at the age of five.³²

In October 2018, the issue was raised at Prime Minister's Questions. The then Prime Minister, Theresa May, stated that:

> We are concerned that some summer-born and prematurely born children whose parents choose to delay their entry to school until compulsory school age may be missing essential teaching in a reception year. I understand that the Department for Education is looking at how best to make changes without creating unintended consequences elsewhere in the system. It is important that it looks at it in that sense.³³

June 2020 statement

In June 2020, the Department for Education announced a consultation on the School Admissions Code, to consider changes where children are admitted to school in-year.³⁴ It was, however, announced that changes to the admission of summer born children would not be considered as part of the consultation.

In a statement released on the same day as the Admissions Code consultation, the Department for Education stated that keeping summer-born children in the same cohort group throughout their education would require legislation:

> We are unable to make the summer born change at the same time [as the changes proposed in the consultation], because a provision to enable children to remain in a particular cohort goes beyond the remit of the code and therefore requires primary legislation. We remain committed to making these changes in due course.35

The statement set out the Department's view, and related research, that admission authorities are increasingly flexible when responding to parents' requests for summer-born children to be admitted to school outside of their 'normal' year, with almost 9 in 10 being agreed in 2018/19.³⁶

Nonetheless, the Department stated that it intended to publish guidance for local authorities on summer-born admissions during summer 2020, in light of

³¹ PQ 133279, 27 March 2018

³² PO 133280, 27 March 2018

³³ HC Deb 10 Oct 2018 c135

³⁴ Department for Education, Changes to the School Admissions Code, 26 June 2020

³⁵ Department for Education, Updated statement on admission of summer-born children: 2020, 26 June 2020

Department for Education, Delayed school admissions for summer-born pupils (2019), 21 October 2019

4.6

remaining instances of drawn-out disputes or children missing reception year. Advice would also be published for parents who were unsure about the best course of action for their child.³⁷

September 2020: revised guidance

In September 2020, the DfE published <u>revised guidance for schools and also</u> <u>advice for parents</u> who are considering delaying their summer-born child's admission to school.

Both documents restated the Government's commitment to amend the School Admissions Code:

...so that summer born children can automatically be admitted to a reception class at the age of five where that is what their parents want, and can remain with the cohort with which they are admitted throughout their education. We remain committed to making that change when a legislative opportunity is available.³⁸

In response to a Parliamentary Question in November 2020, the then Schools Minister stated:

Nick Gibb: [...] The guidance will help ensure that decisions are taken in the best interests of the child concerned. It remains our intention to legislate to change the school admissions code when an opportunity is available.³⁹

4.7 July 2022: Changes dropped

In July 2022, the Government announced that it <u>no longer planned to legislate</u> so that summer-born children could, where requested, automatically be admitted to a reception class at the age of 5, and remain throughout their education with the same cohort.

The Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Education, Baroness Barran, said that:

Data suggests that the system for summer-born admissions is now working much better than it was in 2015. [...]

Our latest research survey report shows that the majority of requests for delayed entry to reception are now approved, with almost 9 in 10 approved

³⁷ Department for Education, <u>Updated statement on admission of summer-born children: 2020</u>, 26 June 2020

³⁸ Department for Education, <u>Admission of summer born children: advice for local authorities and school admission authorities</u>, updated May 2021; see also <u>Summer Born Children Starting School:</u> <u>Advice for parents</u>, September 2020

³⁹ PQ 909060, 23 November 2020

annually. This data reflects the clearer understanding admission authorities now have of their duties under the Code.

I am reassured that good progress has been made on this issue and that these improvements suggest the system is now working well. Taking all of this into account, I do not intend to continue to pursue legislation on this issue at this time, but will keep this position under review if the situation changes.⁴⁰

The announcement restated that local authorities and admission authorities should retain the assumption that children educated outside of their normal year group will remain so throughout their schooling, and that children educated out of their year group should not be disadvantaged at secondary transition.

⁴⁰ Department for Education, <u>Statement for local authorities</u>, <u>schools and admission authorities on the</u> <u>admission of summer-born children to school</u>, from Baroness Barran, Parliamentary Under-<u>Secretary of State for the School System</u>, 21 July 2022

5

Research and comment

This section provides some think tank research into the impact of starting school relatively 'early' on summer-born children, as well as submissions to the Education Committee and press comment on the subject. It is not intended to be exhaustive, but rather to provide a flavour of recent material and comment in this area.

Institute for Fiscal Studies research

In May 2010, the Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS), published a working paper When you are born matters: the impact of date of birth on educational outcomes in England, which found that:

...the month in which you are born matters for test scores at ages 7, 11, 14 and 16, with younger children performing significantly worse, on average, than their older peers. Furthermore, almost all of this difference is due to the fact that younger children sit exams up to one year earlier than older cohort members. The difference in test scores at age 16 potentially affects the number of pupils who stay on beyond compulsory schooling, with predictable labour market consequences. Indeed, we find that the impact of month of birth persists into higher education (college) decisions, with age 19/20 participation declining monotonically with month of birth.⁴¹

The IFS, alongside the Nuffield Foundation and ESRC, published a report called <u>When You Are Born Matters: Evidence for England</u>, in May 2013, which highlighted "large differences in educational attainment between children born at the start and end of the academic year," and evidence of impact in other areas such as the likelihood of being assessed as having SEN at school, as well as children's self-esteem and confidence in their own ability. However, the paper found "little evidence" that these detrimental effects persisted into adulthood. ⁴²

Institute of Education study

A working paper published by the Centre for Longitudinal Studies at the Institute for Education in March 2013, <u>In-school ability grouping and the</u> <u>month of birth effect</u>, found that:

⁴¹ Institute for Fiscal Studies, <u>When you are born matters: the impact of date of birth on educational outcomes in England</u>, May 2010 [accessed 20 July 2015]

⁴² Institute for Fiscal Studies, <u>When You Are Born Matters: Evidence for England</u>, May 2013, p1-2. See also the IFS Observations article, <u>When should summer born children start school?</u>, 12 September 2013

...the youngest children in a school year are far more likely to be placed in the lowest ability groups than autumn-born pupils.

The research found that, by age seven, September-born children were nearly three times as likely to be in the top stream as those born in the following August. If the children were not only streamed, but also grouped by ability within their class or year for specific subjects, then the age differences became even more marked.

The report raised concerns that as a result ability grouping might have "particularly negative consequences" for younger children.⁴³

Education Datalab research

In March 2017, Education Datalab <u>published analysis</u> indicating that Augustborn pupils close the gap in attainment as they progress through schooling but remain behind September-born peers by the end of Key Stage 4.⁴⁴

Submissions to Education Committee

A range of institutions and individuals submitted written evidence to the Education Committee in 2015 on the issue of the school starting age, particularly summer born children.⁴⁵

BBC investigation: 'postcode lottery' for parents

In October 2018, the <u>BBC published an article</u> setting out findings that parents who want to delay their child's first year of school have varying success rates depending on where they live. The report stated that some councils approve 100% of requests, while others turn down more than half.

The article also set out that figures supplied under the Freedom of Information Act stated that 2,243 requests were made to 110 local authorities in England to defer starts to the 2018 school year, an increase of 18% on the previous year.⁴⁶

TES article

In June 2023, TES published an article, <u>Should summer-born children start</u> <u>school later?</u>, which drew together research on this issue.⁴⁷

⁴³ Centre for Longitudinal Studies, <u>Ability Grouping in Primary School may reinforce disadvantage of summer-born children, study finds</u>, 8 March 2013; also reported in Guardian, <u>Summer-born children suffer educational inequality, study finds</u>, 8 March 2013

¹⁴ Education Datalab, <u>Getting Older Quicker</u>, 3 March 2017

⁴⁵ Education Committee, <u>Evidence check: Starting school inquiry</u>, March 2015

⁴⁶ BBC News, <u>Summer baby school delays: Parents face postcode lottery</u>, 24 October 2018

⁴⁷ TES, <u>Should summer-born children start school later?</u>, 21 June 2023

LSE article on deferred or delayed entry

A 2023 article by Dr Tammy Campbell, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics, <u>Whose entry to primary school is deferred or</u> <u>delayed?</u>, analysed related trends. The article looks at deferred entry (to the year below a child's birth cohort), and delayed entry (where a younger child starts Reception class later in the academic year than September, but remains with their regular cohort).

The article notes that the rise in proportions of children deferring entry since changes to the Schools Admissions Code in 2014 is driven by summer-born children, and particularly August-born. It is also "notably pronounced" among children recorded with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). However, the article continues:

> As these groups are intended to benefit from the policy of discretionary later entry with the subsequent cohort, this may suggest that the series of changes to the Schools Admissions Code and guidance confirming 'right to request' are working as intended to an extent. However, children with SEND are also increasingly likely to miss at least part of Reception after delayed admission. This may also reflect other issues with the primary education system and with availability of provision, but it could indicate that for some children with SEND, the 'right to request' and experiences of school entry are not playing out in an optimal manner.⁴⁸

Dr Campbell also draws attention to children eligible for free school meals being more likely to delay entry to school, and miss part of Reception year, and that children from higher-income families seem more likely than children eligible for FSM to defer entry, beginning Reception with the cohort below.

⁴⁸ Dr Tammy Campbell, <u>Whose entry to primary school is deferred or delayed? Evidence from the English National Pupil Database</u>, <u>Review of Education</u>, volume 11 issue 2, August 2023

The House of Commons Library is a research and information service based in the UK Parliament. Our impartial analysis, statistical research and resources help MPs and their staff scrutinise legislation, develop policy, and support constituents.

Our published material is available to everyone on commonslibrary.parliament.uk.

Get our latest research delivered straight to your inbox. Subscribe at commonslibrary.parliament.uk/subscribe or scan the code below:





🥑 @commonslibrary